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Directory 

Registered office 

Postal address 

Directors 

Auditor 

Bankers 

Solicitors 

Shareholding as at 
30 June 2020 

Whanganul District Council 
101 Guyton Street 
Whanganul 
Telephone (06) 349 0001 
Fax (06) 349 0000 
email wdc@whanganul.govt.nz 

PO Box 637 
Whanganui 

Annette Main ONZM {Chair) 
Matthew Doyle 
David Rae 
Simon Karipa 
Peter Hazledine 

Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 

ANZ Whanganul 

Armstrong Barton 

Whanganui District Council 100% 
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Statutory information 

Whanganul Dlstr1Ct CouncJ Hokllngs Umtted 
Annual R;cport tor the year ended 30 lune 2020 

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020. The 
Company was incorporated on 12 March 2002. 

Activities 
The Group's principal activity is that of investments. Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 
(WDCHL) owns 100% of the share capital of GasNet Limited and also 100% of the share capital of New 
Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy Limited. 

The Group also owns 100% of the share capital of Whanganui Port Limited. Since incorporation in 
March 2013 there have been no transactions within Whanganui Port Limited. 

Results 
The Directors report a group tax paid loss of $147,000 for the year ended 30 June 2020. Equity at the 
end of the year was $30,159,000. 

Dividends 
The group did not pay dividends for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: $1,000,000). 

Directors and their remuneration 
Directors fees paid by WDCHL during the year were as follows: 

Annette Main (Chair) 
Matthew Doyle 
David Rae 
Simon Karipa 
Peter Hazledine 
Charles Anderson (NZIPCA) 

Directors' and officers' insurance 

$52,450 
$50,783 
$44,177 
$42,450 
$47,981 
$12,000 

Pursuant to Sections 162(3) and 162(4) of the Companies Act 1993 and WDCHL constitution, 
Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited has affected liability insurance cover for Directors and 
Officers up to $5 million. WDCHL has paid 100% of the premium for this cover. 

Shareholding by directors 
No Directors held Group shares, or acquired or disposed of shares during the year. 

Use of WDCHL information 
No Directors have used or acted on information that would not otherwise be available to Directors. 

Auditor's remuneration 
The audit fees for the current year will be $86,084. 

Donations 
There were no donations for the year (2019 $nil). 

Employee Remuneration 
There were no employees of WDCHL who received total remuneration benefits of more than $100,000 
per annum (2019 nil). 

Page 4 of 43 6/12/2023 7:27 am 



Whanganul DlstJ1c1 Courd Hddklgs Umfto<l 
Annual Rtport '°' the - Clld<d JO June 2020 

Directors' Interests 

Toe Directors have made the following declarations of interest: 

Name: Company/Interest: 

Matthew Doyle Doyle & Associates- The Accountants Limited 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

GasNet Limited 

New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy limited 

32 TQ Limited 

McCarthy Transport Assets Limited 

McCarthy Transport Holdings Limited 

McCarthy Transport Contractors Limited 

Doyle Audit Chartered Accountants Limited 

Peter Hazledine Altosa Forestry Company Limited 

Kakahi General Partner Limited 

Hazledine Consulting 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

GasNet Limited 

New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy limited 

Simon Karipa Paraekaretu Solutions Limited 

Whanganui lwi Fisheries Limited 

Te Ngakinga o Whanganui Investment Trust 

Karipa Marumaru Whanau Trust 

Parewanui Trust 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

GasNet Limited 

New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy limited 

Maara Moana Limited 

Puramakau 2L Limited 

Puramakau 2M Limited 

Puramakau 2N Limited 

Puramakau 20 Limited 

Te Kumara 3L limited 

Waikato 1B Limited 

Waikato lC Limited 

Waikato 10 Limited 

Crown Forestry Rental Trust 

Annette Main Te Korire Trust 

Lovely Food Co. 

The Kitchen Whanganui 

Taiata 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

GasNet Limited 

New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy Limited 

Kakahi General Partner Limited 
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David Rae 

Tupuho & Holdings General Partner Limited 

Whanganui Port Limited 

UCOL (Universal College of Learning) 

Astronomy NZ Limited 

PIF Guardians Limited 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

GasNet Limited 

Wllanganul Dlslrtcl COundl Holdings Umltod 
Annual Re;>ort to, Ille year ended 30 June 2020 

New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy Limited 

The New Zealand Refining Company Pension Fund 

The New Zealand Refining Nominees Limited 

MyFiduciary Limited 

David Rae Associates Limited 

Te Puia Tapapa Limited Partnership 

Public Infrastructure Partners Fund Ill 

Galileo Green Energy GmbH 

Public Trust Investment Committee 

Company's Affairs 
Toe Directors consider the state of the Company's affairs to be satisfactory. 
On behalf of the Board 
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Chair's Report 

Wllario,tnul DtslT1ct Councf Holdl,gs Umlted 
Annual Report fOf ttie yur endeo 30Junc 2020 

I am pleased to provide this report on behalf of Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited (WDCHL) for the year ended 30 
June 2020. 

Governance 

The Directors of WDCHL are responsible to Council as their shareholder for the performance on investments and the 
performance of GasNet and NZICPA. 

The end of 2020 concluded a challenging year which up until the onset of COVID-19 had shown significant growth and 
opportunity. 

The agreement signed earlier in 2018 between NZICPA and India's largest passenger airline lndiGo provided the catalyst for 

significant growth in both NZICPA and WDCHL with the commitment to provide training to lndiGo's cadet pilots. 

The former Collegiate Motor Inn was purchased under the planned joint venture with Tupoho in addition to the former rest 

home Nazareth purchased the previous year, with both facilities providing accommodation for international and domestic 

students and the NZICPA-lndiGo cadet training programme. 

In order to provide the required number of aircraft to train the increased number of trainee pilots the Board agreed, with 

shareholder approval, to purchase additional aircraft from Canadian based Diamond Aircraft Industries. 

The completion of the Advanced Aviation Hub business case last year and further effort from a highly experienced team of 

individuals on an investment case, provided the confidence which lead to an application to the Provincial Growth Fund. 

The Board agreed to purchase, in a Joint venture with Te Ngakinga, the former YMCA/St Georges premises in Grey Street 

Whanganui, with the intention of providing the location for the Whanganui based Advanced Aviation Hub. The building was 
tenanted by both YMCA and NZICPA. 

The rapid escalation of COVID-19 within New Zealand and the subsequent closure of the borders has had a significant impact 

on the plans for both WDCHL and NZICPA, and to a much lesser extent GasNet. 

As NZ moved to lockdown at level 4 in late March 2020, with International borders closed with unknown future effect on the 

airline industry, the Provincial Growth Fund discussion was postponed, and the number of lndiGo cadet pilots has necessarily 

remained at current levels until the NZ borders reopen. The agreement to purchase the Diamond aircraft has been put on 

hold until the situation and impact of COVID-19 becomes clearer. 

The impact of COVID-19 on Gas Net has been minimal up to year end but a water ingress event on its Whanganui low pressure 

network in February 2020 did impact on its profitability to budget expectations. 

WDCHL also provided further oversight of commercial activities undertaken at both the Whanganui Airport and Port at the 

request of Whanganui District Council. This has included involvement of the Chair and Deputy Chair on a governance support 
team for the Whanganui Port Revitalisation Project. 

Our primary focus is to ensure that the interests of the shareholders and key stakeholders are protected and enhanced by 

adding long-term value to the Company's shares. We have Statements of Intent agreed with the Whanganui District Council. 

The Board uses best practice to identify, manage and resolve strategic issues and regularly evaluates economic, political, 

social and legal matters that may influence or affect the development of the business or the interests of Shareholders and 
takes outside expert advice on these matters when necessary. 
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The Board consists of the following Directors: 

Annette Main - Chair 

Matthew Doyle - Deputy Chair 

Peter Hazledine 

Simon Karipa 

David Rae 

\Yh1nganul Olstr1ct Councl Hokllngs Umlted 
Annu,I Report for the year ended 30 June 2020 

All directors have brought different sets of skills to contribute to consensus decision-making at the board table, and all are 

appointed to the boards of GasNet and NZICPA. Matt Doyle chaired the board of NZICPA up until his resignation in March 

2020 when David Rae was appointed and I appreciate his willingness to step into this role. Charlie Anderson is appointed to 

the board of NZICPA. 

PERSONNEL 
Jim Coe was appointed to General Manager of GasNet and commenced in April 2020 following the resignation of Geoff Evans 

in January 2020. 
Geoff Evans was subsequently offered and accepted the role of General Manager of WDCHL and commenced in May 2020. 

The Directors would like to acknowledge the work of Phil! Bedford CE and the team at NZICPA, Jim Coe and his team at 

GasNet, and Geoff Evans for their effort and achievements during a very busy and challenging year. 

AUDITORS 
The Auditors are Audit New Zealand who act on behalf of The Office of the Auditor General and will continue to do so as 

required by legislation. 

SUMMARY 
GasNet has been able to report on another successful financial year, despite trading results not quite meeting budget 

expectations following February's network outage event due to water intrusion. 

By year end NZICPA was training the highest number of pilot students in flight training it has had since the company was 

formed in 2015. 

NZICPA completed its New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZOA) External Evaluation and Review (EER) and was ranked 

the best pilot training organisation in the country, rated excellent in each and every field. It is not possible to do better 

Although the year ended much differently to how we expected it would, the Directors and officers of WDCHL and its 

subsidiaries NZICPA and GasNet remain committed and determined to manage the coming months and years as the situation 

under COVID-19 changes and evolves. 

Thanks 
I would like to express my appreciation to my fellow directors for the considerable effort and time commitment they have 

made in this financial year. Professional services over and above their role as company directors has been required due to 

our additional activities in another demanding financial year and I recognise that this has placed considerable pressure on 

their own businesses. 

The willingness of Whanganui District Council to discuss sensitive commercial negotiations in confidence when necessary is 

appreciated, as is their support of our desire to see strong economic benefit for Whanganui come from investment. 

The contribution of Kym Fell in his role as WDC Chief Executive, Mike Fermor and the WDC Finance Team, and Louise Davies 

who had provided our ever increasing administration support up until February 2020, is gratefully acknowledged. 

We look forward to the inevitable challenges of the coming year under COVID-19 and further progress in providing greater 

economic growth and development of all areas we have responsibility to manage on behalf of the Whanganui District 

Council, and ultimately the Whanganui community. 

Annette Main 
Chair 
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Statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Income 
Sales 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit from trading 

Finance Income 
Other revenue 
Gains/(Losses) 
Total Income 

Expenses 
Personnel costs 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Finance costs 
Impairment expense 
Other expenses 
Total expenses 

Surplus/(deficit) before tax 

Income tax expense 

Surplus/(deflcit) after tax 

Other comprehensive income and expenses 
Asset revaluation movement 
Income tax re components of other comprehensive Income 
Total other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive income 

Attributable to 
Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

The accompanying notes form part of these finandaf statements. 
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Note 

1 
2 
3 

4 

1 

5 

6 

Wh.lnganul Dlslri<t Councl Holdings Umll.ed 
Nlnual Reoort for the ye,11, ended 30 Jime 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

8,798 7,754 
1554 1113 
7,244 6,641 

18 39 
1,707 1,005 

100 81 ----.,......,...,..,....--
9,068 7,766 

2,590 1,936 
1,993 1,490 

681 835 

----==--3,625 2,909 
8,890 7,169 

178 596 

31 35 --------
147 562 

147 562 

147 562 

147 562 
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Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Balance at 1 July 

Comprehensive income 
Surplus/( deficit) after tax from continuing operations 
Adjustment opening balances 
Tot;,/ comprehensive income 

Attributable to 
Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

Transactions with shareholders 
Issue Share Capital 
Dividends paid 
Equity as at 30 June 

The accompanying notes form part of these tinandal statements. 
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Note 

wnanoanul O!strlc:t CO\lndl Holdlnos Umlted 
Annual Report for ttlt: ye,n ended JO .June 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

30,011 30,449 

147 562 

147 562 

147 562 

(1,000) 
301159 30,011 
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Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2020 

A$SdS 
current assets 
cash and cash equivalents 
Debtors and other receivables 
Other nnanclal assets 
Taxation refund 
Right of use asset 
Non-Current assets held for sale 
Inventories 

Non-current assets 
Other financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investment property 
Right of use asset 
Goodwill on consolidation 

Totil assets 

Uabllltles 
Current liabilities 
Creditors and other payables 
Employee entitlements 
Lease llabllltles 
Tax payable 
Derivative financial instruments 
Borrowings 
Income in advance 

Non-current liabilities 
Borrowings 
Derivative financial instruments 
Lease liabllltles 
Deferred tax 

Total liabilities 
Nl!tassets 

Equity 
Share capital 
Retained earnings 
Asset revaluation reserve 

For and on behalf of the Board 

carolyn Van Leuven 
Chair 

T1le accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Group 
2020 2019 

Note $000 $000 

7 2,112 841 
8 4,426 2,560 

5 7 
110 

10 457 297 
7,110 3,705 

11 48,009 39,284 
12 1 23 

13 
12 9 353 9 749 

57,375 49,056 

64,485 52,761 

13 1,555 1,102 
14 306 176 

111 
{61) 259 

9 39 
15 8,135 

3165 1497 
13,250 3,034 

15 13,814 12,371 
9 289 428 

12 
6 6961 6 918 

21,076 19,717 

34,326 22.750 
30,159 30,011 

16 7,846 7,846 
16 13,970 13,823 
16 8,342 8,342 

30,159 30,011 
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers 
Interest received 
Dividends received 
Payments to suppliers and employees 
GST (net) 
Taxes paid 
Subvention payment 
Interest paid 

Net cash from operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Sale of fixed assets and Investments 
Purchase of Intangibles 
Purchase of fixed assets and investments 

Net cash from Investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings 
Advances to subsidiaries 
Repayment of loans 
Purchase of shares 
Dividends paid 

Net cash from financing activities 

Net {decrease)/increase In cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

Note 

17 

\Vhlnoanul DISttkt Cound Holdings Um!~ 
Ann1111 Report for tile yoar ended 30 Jun< 2020 

Group 
2020 
$000 

10,520, 
18 

(7,281) 
(211) 
(309) 

{715) 

2,022 

(1) 
(10.299) 

(10,300) 

9,660 

(111) 

9,550 

1,272 

841 

2,112 

Group 
2019 
$000 

8,961 
39 

(5,580) 
202 

(632) 

(934) 

2,056 

(17) 
(1,705) 

(1,722) 

1,059 
(3,729) 

(1,000) 

(3,670) 

(3,336) 

841 

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue 
Department. The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do not 
provide meaningful Information for financial statement purposes. 

The accompanying notes form part of these linandal statements. 
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Statement of accounting policies 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

REPORTING ENTITY 

Whi!lnganul District Co11rd HC,C,~s Utn.'ted 
Annual Repo<t lo, th< l'I"' end<d 30 l une 2020 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited (WDCHL) is a company formed in accordance with and registered under the 
Companies Act 1993. WDCHL is controlled by Whanganul District Council (the Council) and is a Council Controlled Trading 
Organisation as defined under section 6 of the Local Government Act 2002, by virtue of the Council's right to appoint the Board 
of Directors. WDCHL is domiciled in New Zealand. 

The group financial statements indude its subsidiaries, GasNet Limited and New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy 
(NZICPA) which are also domiciled in New Zealand. On 1 July 2008 the two independent trading divisions of Wanganui Gas 
Limited, GasNet and Energy Direct NZ, were established as separate companies. Both companies are 100% owned by Wanganui 
Gas Limited. During 2013, the assets of Energy Direct NZ Ltd were sold and the company ceased to operate as an energy 
retailer. On 30 June 2016 Wanganui Gas Limited, Wanganui Gas No. l Limited, Wanganui Gas No. 3 Limited and GasNet Limited 
were amalgamated to become GasNet Limited. NZICPA was acquired at the start of the 2016 Financlal Year and it Is consolidated 
for the fourth time into the Group accounts. 

The primary objective of WDCHL is to operate as a successful business in relation to its investments and the monitoring roles 
assigned to it under contract by the Council. The Group aims to improve the long term value and financial return that the Council 
receives from Its trading undertakings. 

WDCHL is a profit oriented entity for the purposes of New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS). 

The financial statements of WDCHL are for the year ended 30 June 2020. The financial statements ..yere authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 8 December 2023. 
BASIS OF PREPARATION 

Statement of compliance 
The financial statements of WDCHL have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002, 
which indudes the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP. 

For the purposes of complying with NZ GAAP, the WDCHL is eligible to applyTier 2 For-profit Accounting Standards (New Zealand 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Regime ('NZ IFRS RDR')) on the basis that it 
does not have public accountability and is not a large for-profit public sector. The WDCHL has elected to report in accordance 
with NZ IFRS RDR and has applied disclosure concessions. 

Measurement base 
The financial statements are prepared using the historical cost basis, modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments 
(induding derivative instruments). 

Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented In New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. The 
Group's functional currency is New Zealand dollars. 

Changes to Accounting Policies 

There have been no changes to accounting policies. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POUCES 

Basis of consolidation 
The purchase method Is used to prepare the consolidated financial statements, which involves adding together like Items of 
assets, llabllities, equity, income and expenses on a line-by-line basis. All significant intergroup balances, transactions, Income 
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

Subsidiaries 
WDCHL consolidates as subsidiaries in the group financial statements all entities where WDCHL has the capacity to control their 
financing and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the entity. This power exists where WDCHL controls 
the majority voting power on the governing body or where such policies have been irreversibly predetermined by WDCHL or 
where the determination of such policies is unable to materially impact the level of potential ownership benefits that arise from 
the activities of the subsidiary. 
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WDCHL measures the cost of a business combination as the aggregate of: 
the consideration transferred, which is generally measured at acquisition date fair value; 

Whanganul ~net Councl HoktlngS Urnlted 
Annual Report for the year ended JO June 2020 

• the amount of any non-controlling interest measured at either fair value or the non-controlling interest in the fair value of 
the net Identifiable assets of the acquiree; and 

• the acquisition date fair value of the previously held equity Interest In the acquiree, if any. 

Any excess of the cost of the business combination over WDCHL's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill. If WDCHL's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities recognised exceeds the cost of the business combination, the difference will be recognised Immediately 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Revenue 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. The group satisfies Its performance obligations of 
IFRS 15 and recognises revenue over time. 

Revenue is derived from gas network distribution services. Such revenue is recognised when earned and Is reported in the 
financial period to which it relates. 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by ref'erence to the principal outstanding and the effective Interest rate applicable. 

Dividends are recognised when the shareholder's rights to receive payment has been established and are recognised net of 
imputation credits. 

A grant is not recognised until there Is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to it, and 
that the grant will be received. Grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, 
otherwise borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are inrurred. 

Income Tax 
Income tax expense is the aggregate of current period movements in relation to both rurrent and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on the taxable surplus for the rurrent year, plus any adjustments to 
income tax payable in respect of prior years. Current tax is calrulated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at balance date. 

Deferred tax Is the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in Mure periods in respect of temporary differences and unused 
tax losses. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable surplus. 

Def-erred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at balance date. The measurement of deferred tax 
reflects that tax consequences that would follow from the manner In which WDCHL expects to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Def-erred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable surpluses will be available against which the deductible temporary differences or tax losses 
can be utilised. 

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting surplus nor taxable surplus. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised against the statement of comprehensive income for the period, except to the extent that 
it relates to a business combination, or to transactions recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in rurrent liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

Debtors and other receivables 
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Wl\lnganul Otstnct Council ttoldl!,g> umu,,, 
Annuel R.epcwt ,o, the year ended 30 June 2020 

Debtors and other receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment. 

Impairment of a receivable Is established when there Is objective evidence that WDCHL will not be able to collect amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter Into bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation, and default In payments are considered indicators that the debt Is Impaired. 
Toe amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset's canying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted using the original effective Interest rate. Toe carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of 
an aDowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the receivable 
Is uncollectlble, It Is written off against the allowance account for receivables. overdue receivables that have been renegotiated 
are reclassified as OJrrent {that is, not past due). 

Toe Group applies the NZ IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses whidi uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. 

Financial Instruments 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to credit risk are cash and bank balances, debtors and investments. The 
Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the issuance of debt Instruments. Toe Group is not subject to currency risk. 
Financial instruments are recognised In the Statement of Financial Position. Revenues and expenses in relation to financial 
Instruments are recognised In the Statement of comprehensive income. Unless covered by a separate policy, all financial 
instruments are shown at their fair value. Therefore, as per the new standard IFRS 9 the group meets Its requirements. 

Finanda/ Assets 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair value through profit or 
loss In which case the transaction O)St5 are recognised In the statement of comprehensive income. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which The Company commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Toe Group has loans and receivables assets. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months a~er the balance date, which are 
included in non-current assets. The Group loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, debtors and other 
receivables, and term deposits. 

Rnancial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities ( creditors, income in advance, loans, bonds and deposits) are initially recognised at fair value. These are 
subsequently recognised at amortised cost. 

Impairment of Rnandal Assets 
At each Statement of Financial Position date the Group assesses whether there Is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairment of a loan or a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
amounts due according to the original terms. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
into bankruptcy, and default in payments are considered Indicators that the asset Is impaired. Toe amount of the impairment Is 
the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted using the 
original effective Interest rate. For debtors and other receivables, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income. When the 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Overdue receivables that have been renegotiated are 
reclassified as current (i.e. not past due). For term deposits, impairment losses are recognised directly against the Instrument's 
carrying amount. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
WDCHL uses derivative financial Instruments to hedge exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing activities. 
Toe Group uses derivatives only for economic hedging purposes and not as speculative investments. All derivatives meet the 
hedge accounting criteria, so they are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured at their fair value at eadi balance date. The accounting for subsequent changes In fair value depends 
on whether the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge under NZ IFRS 9. 

Toe method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative ls designated as a hedging instrument 
and, lf so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
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The Group enters into interest rate swaps that have similar critical terms as the hedged item, such as reference rate, reset date, 
payment date, maturity and notional amount The Group may hedge less than 100% of any particular borrowing, therefore the 
hedged item may be identified as a proportion of an outstanding borrowing up to the notional amount of the swap, 

Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate &"Waps may occur due to the credit value/debit value adjustment on the interest rate swap 
which is not matched by the loan, and differences in critical tenms between the interest rate swap and loan. 

The associated gains or losses of derivatives that are not hedge accounted are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
Income. 

WDCHL designates certain derivates as either: 
hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment {fair value hedge); or 
hedges of highly probable forecast transactions {cash flow hedge). 

Fair value hedge 
O'langes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Statement of 
comprehensive income together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the 
hedged risk. The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings. The gain or loss 
relating to the effective portion of Interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income within Other income or Other expenses. 
Changes in the fair value of the hedged fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate movements are also recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income, 

Cash flow hedge 
The effective portion of changes In the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges Is recognised 
in Other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately as Other income 
or Other expenses in Profit or loss. Amounts accumulated in Other comprehensive income are recycled in the Statement of 
comprehensive income in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (f'or instance when the forecast transaction 
that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that Is hedged results In the recognition of a non-financial 
asset {f'or example, asset purchase) or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in Other comprehensive 
income are transferred from Other comprehensive income and induded in the measurement of the initial cost or carrying amount 
of the asset or liability 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria f'or hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss existing in Other comprehensive income at that time remains In Other comprehensive Income and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in Profit or loss or is capitalised on the recognition of a non­
financial asset. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
Cumulative gain or loss that was reported in Other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to Profit or loss. 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
In the event that a derivative does not qualify for hedge accounting or for which hedge accounting has not been adopted, 
changes in its fair value would be recognised immediately in Profit or loss as Other income or Other expenses. 

Inventories 
Inventories (such as spare parts and other items) held f'or distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not 
supplied on a commercial basis are measured at the lower of cost, adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service potential. 
Where inventories are acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is the current replacement cost at the date of 
acquisition. 

Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost of purchased inventory is determined using the weighted average method. 

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period of the write-down. 

Capital conb"ibutions 
Where the Group constructs assets at its own cost and receives a cash payment from a third party as part, or full payment for 
the development of such assets, the Group recognises the asset at the cost incurred to construct the asset and recognises the 
cash received as revenue. 

Impairment of assets 
At each balance date WDCHL assesses whether there is any objective evidence that any asset has been impaired. Any impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment consists of: 
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Operational assets- these include land, buildings, motor vehicles and plant and equipment 

Infrastructure assets- these include the fixed utility systems comprising the distribution and measurement systems. Each asset 
type includes all items that are required for the network to function. 

Property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Revaluation 
Land, buildings and infrastructural assets are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure that their carrying amount does not 
differ materially from fair value and at least every three years. All other asset classes are carried at depreciated historical cost. 

WDCHL assesses the carrying values of Its revalued assets annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from the assets' 
fair values. If there is a material difference, then the off-cyde asset dasses are revalued. 

WDCHL accounts for revaluations of property, plant and equipment on an asset by asset basis. 

The results of revaluing are credited or debited to other comprehensive income and are accumulated to an asset revaluation 
reserve In equity for that class of asset. Where this results In a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is not 
recognised in other comprehensive income but Is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Any subsequent 
increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income will be 
recognised first in the statement of comprehensive Income up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 

Additions 
The cost of an Item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to WDCHL and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Work In progress Is recognised at cost less impairment and Is not depreciated. 

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised at its cost. Where an asset Is acquired at no cost, or 
for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses 
on disposals are included In the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in 
asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to retained earnings. 

Depredation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than land and art works, at rates that 
will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and 
associated depredation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows: 

Asset type 
Distribution Network Mains and Services 
Distribution Network Condition Renewals 
Gas Measurement Systems and Distribution Network Customer Stations 
Buildings 
Vehicles, Plant, Office Equipment and Furniture and Fittings 
Computer Hardware 
Leasehold Improvements 
Aircra~ 
Simulators 

Depreciation rate 
1-15% SL 
2%SL 
1-10% SL 
2%SL 
4-40 % SL 
20-33% SL 
2-20% SL 
10% SL 
8-40% SL 

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted If applicable, at each financial year-end. 

Investment property 
Properties leased to third parties under operating leases are dassified as investment property unless the property is held to meet 
service delivery objectives, rather than to earn rentals or for capita! appreciation, 

Investment property is measured initially at Its cost, lndudlng transaction costs. 

After initial recognition the asset shall be carried at Its fair value. 

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 
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Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of WDCHL's share of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of 
subsidiaries is included in "intangible assets". 

Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in any subsequent period. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purposes of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash 
generating units or groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination, in which the 
goodwill arose. 

Software a(X/uisition and development 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. 

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use by WDCHL, are recognised as an intangible 
asset. Direct costs indude the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Staff training costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Amortisation 
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for 
each period is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major dasses of intangible assets have been estimated as follows: 

Computer software 3 years 33% 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, or not yet available for use, are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment Assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for indicators of impairment at each balance date. 
When there is an indicator of impairment the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds it recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is depreciated, replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or service potential of the asset 
are not primarily dependent on the asset's ability to generate net cash inflows and where the entity would, if deprived of the 
asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential. 

The value in use for cash-generating assets and cash generating units is the present value of expected future cash flows. In 
assessing value in use the estimated cashflows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and risks to the specific asset. 

If an asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount is written down to 
the recoverable amount. for revalued assets the impairment loss is recognised against the revaluation reserve for that asset. 
Where that results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

for assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation reserve. However, to the extent that an 
impairment loss for that dass of asset was previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, a reversal of the 
impairment loss is also recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

for assets not carried at a revalued amount ( other than goodwill) the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income. 

Creditors and other payables 
Creditors and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value net of transaction costs incurred. After initial recognition, all borrowings are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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Borrowings are dassified as current liabilities unless WDCHL has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the balance date or If the borrowings are expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date. 

Employee entitlements 
Short-term employee entitlements 
Employee benefits that WDCHL expects to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at nominal values based 
on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. 

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at, balance date, retiring 
and long service leave entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months, and sick leave. 

WDCHL recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the 
sick leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount Is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that 
can be carried forward at balance date, to the extent that WDCHL anticipates it will be used by staff to cover those future 
absences. 

WDCHL recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation. 

Presentation of employee entitlements 
Annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date Is dasslfied as a current liability. All other employee 
entitlements are classified as a non-current liability. 

Equity 
Equity is the community's Interest In WDCHL and Is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity 
is disaggregated and classified into a number of reserves. 

The components of equity are: 
■ retained earnings 

property, plant and equipment reserves 
fair value through other comprehensive reserves 

Goods and Service Tax (GST) 
All items in the financial statements are stated exdusive of GST, except for receivables and payables, which are stated on a GST 
inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is induded as part of receivables 
or payables in the statement of financial position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is dassifted as an 
operating cash flow in the Statement of cash Flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements WDCHL has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future which may differ 
from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations or future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

At each balance date WDCHL reviews the useful lives and residual values of Its property, plant and equipment. Assessing the 
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires WDCHL to consider a 
number of factors such as the physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by WDCHL, and expected 
disposal proceeds from the sale of the asset. 

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will Impact on the depreciable amount of an asset, therefore impacting 
on the depreciation expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, and carrying amount of the asset In the 
statement of financial position. WDCHL minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by: 

physical inspection of assets 
asset replacement programmes 
review of second hand market prices for similar assets 

• analysis of prior assets sales; and 
completing a revaluation of the infrastructure assets every third year 

WOCHL has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values. 
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An incorrect estimate of the residual value will impact on the amortisable amount of an intangible asset impacting on the 
amortisation expense recognised in the profit and loss statement and the carrying amount of the intangible asset in the balance 
sheet. WDCHL minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty to its intangible assets by: 

• a review of any prices for trades of similar intangible assets. 
• an annual review of the appropriateness of the amortisation rate, 
• analysis of prior intangible asset sales. 
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1 , Flnllnce Income and llnanee cmts 

RnallCl Income 
lnterostlnoofne 
- rrom term loans 
Dlvld<lldlncome 

Tami lln1nct Income 

Rnancecosts 
lnte"eSt paid on fixed loans 

Total llnanc:. costs 

Maoagement recs 
USer charges 
Grants 
Rental Income 
Sundry revenue 

Total ott,er revenue 

3, Galns/(Losses) 

Non-llnandal Instruments 
Property plant and equipment galns/(losses) on disposal 
Investment property galns/(losses) 
Total non-ftnanc:lal lnstnunents plns/(losses) 

Rnancbl lnslnlments 
Glllns/(losses) from derivative financ:tal Instruments 

Tobi llnandal lnstrull'l<!llls galns/(losses) 

Total 911ns/(losse5) 

4. Personnel costs 

5alarle5 and wages 
fml)loyet contr1butlons to superannuation 
CXher personnel costs 
Jncrs~(deaease) in employee entftlement!;Jllablllt!es 
Less capftalised labour 

Total -•el ClOSts 
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Group 
2020 2019 

~ $000 

18 39 

11 39 

611 835 

6ll1 835 

G,oup 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

252 252 
71 171 

<IOO 269 
189 258 
795 55 

1.707 1,005 

G1'011p 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

100 81 

100 81 

100 111 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

2,619 2,022 
33 33 
n 57 

(165) (176) 

2.590 1,936 
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Fees to prindpal auditor. 
• audit fees tor financial stal2ment audit 
• audit related rees ror disdosure regulations 
otrectDrs' fees 
Renllll and operating lease costs 
()the- operating costs 

Total operatiDNII e.x.,.nsu 

6. TIX 

components or tax expense 
OJrrtnt tax expense 
Defened tax on temporary differences 
PrlOr period adjustment 
Income t:as expense 

Relallonshlp _,, tax expe,,sa and aa:ountlng proflt 
SUrplus/(df!fldt) before tax 
TaxO 28% 
Non-taxable Income 
Noo-deductlble -,ditlJre 
Deferred tax not recognls,d 
Oelemid tax adjustment 
Prior por1od adjustment 

Total tax expense 

~ tax llablllty - group 
All tax losses have beor1 recognls,d In the group. 

Balana, 1 July 2018 
Ola!lle(I to proffl. and loss 
Cha'9fd to equity 
Balana, 30 June 2019 
Olarged to pror~ and loss 
Olarged to equlty 
Balanot 30 June 2020 

Property 
plant and 

equlim-t 
$000 

7,586 
(31) 

7,555 
(99) 

7,456 

The prior year tax llablll!y ror GasNet nmlbed was olfsd by losses ol $1,329,685 from WOCHL and losses from woe 
of $318,184 
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■nd 

deriolfves 
$000 

(162) 
9 

(151) 
17 

(10 71 

Wlllngonloi Dbb1CI Couod tloldngs Umtte:I 
Annu.l Report tor the yur ended 30 June 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
~ $000 

86' 65 
"61 46 

250 212 
288, 267 

2,956 2.289 

3,§25 2.909 

Group 
2020 201!1 
$000 $000 

547 719 
39 (95) 

(556! (589! 
31 35 

178 596 
so 167 

362 (225) 

(311) 733 
(67) (640) 

;u H 

Tax- Total 
$000 $000 

(106) 7,018 
(n) (99) 

(183) 6,918 
95 13 

(3171 !,961 
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7, O sh and cash equivalents 

cash at bank and oo hand 
Term deposits wttll matul1tles less then 3 months 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

The canylng value or Clish at bank and tenn deposits with matlJrttles leSS than three months approxlmatt tile~ ralr value. 

L ~ Ind other ,--,.,.Illes 

Traded<t>tllrs 
Amounts due rrom relatecl parties (Note 21) 
other receivables 
Less provl~on for Impairment 
GST 
Total debtors and otller nicdvill>les 

F4/rva/tJIJ 
DeblDt's and other rec:e!vables are non-lnll!rest boar1ng and receipt Is normally on 3(),day terms, therefore the ta<Tylng 
valve of~ and other receivables approximm their fair value. 

The statlJs of recelvables a.sat 30 lune 2020 and 2019 are detailed btlOw: 

2020 
G"'"'" Irapalnnent 

Gn>11p 
Not past due 
Past doe 1-60 days 
Past due 61-120 days 
Past due > 120 days 
Total 

Gn>11p 
Not past due 
Past clue 1-60 days 
Past clue 61-120 days 
Past clue > 120 days 
Total 
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$000 $000 

3,697 (8) 
147 
6S 

525 
4.434 (■) 

2019 
Gross Impairment 
$000 $000 

2,423 
1 

18 
127 (8) 

Z.568 18 ) 

Wha"91"ul DlstJ1ctCl>vnd Uoldinps Umlhld 
AnnUII R'l)Ol1 for the )'Olr ended 30 Juno 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

2,112 &41 

2.m 841 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

◄,286 2,447 

88 121 
(8) (8) 
60 

~~ i,:i§!! 

-$000 

3,689 
147 
6S 

525 
4,426 

Net 
$000 

2,423 
1 

18 
119 

;2.560 
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The lmpalrment piov~lon has been calallated based on expected losse. for the WDCHL group's pool cf delllors. 
Expecl<d losses have been delfflnlned based en an analysis cf WDCHL's losse. In folloWlng periods, and review 
cf 5P"(!lic debtors as detailed below, 

Co-• Impairment 
Individual Impairment 
T-1 ~Ion for impairment 

"'.ovements in the provision for impannent cf reoolvables are as foOcws: 

At l)uly 
Additional p,ovi<ions made dumg the year 
PmYtslons rev"5ed dunng the year 
Reaivables writtln.cff during period 
At30June 

WOCHL holds no colla!<!ral as security or other aedit enhanaments over rec,!vables that are either past due or Impaired. 

9, ~ ftnandll Instruments 

Oment asset portion 
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges 

Non-cunent asset portion 
Interest rate swaps - f'lllr value hedges 

Total de,t,,attve ftnandal Instrument assets 

Cunent llablllty portion 
In-rate swaps • fair volue hedges 

Non-cunent liability portion 
Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges 

Total detlvatlve ftnandal Instrument llabllltles 

Fair value 
The fair values cf lnte'est rate swaps have been determined using a discounted cash flows valuation technrque based 
on quob!d man<et ~-

Interest rate swaps 
The notional pnnapal amounts cf the outstanding Interest rate swap contracts for 
the Group were $4,000,000 (2019 $4,000,000). Al 30 June 2020, the llxed lnw.st rates er 
cash flow hedge inwest - swaps vary from 5.55% to 6.11% (2019 5.55% to 6.11%). 

10. Inventories 

- ,., d,stnbufion/Commt:rda/ lnw:ntorfi!S 
Networlc 
Other 

Group Total lnventor1• 

Inventories are pledged as s«11rtty fer llobUitles $456,565 (2019 $296,983). There has been no write-down of 
ccnrnerciai Inventories tl> net reallsable value (2019 nll), 

Page 24 of 43 

Wllanganui DIStri:t Councl Holding, Ull'lffil 
Annual~ f0< the,,.,., <11d<d JO June 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

8 

' I 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

18 

Gn,up 
2020 
$000 

(391 
(39) 

(289) 
(219) 
(321) 

Group 
2020 
$000 

457 

18 

11 

2019 
$000 

(◄28) 
(421) 
[421) 

2019 
$000 

297 

297 
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11, Property, plaM and equipment 

v ... ucn 

ln//astnJCtUral ass«s 
The dlsb1bution netwo11c and th• gas mt111S1Jrt!Mflt systems had beerl carried at cost less dfc)redatlon. A reva>Jation at 
30 June 2018 lnaeased the car,ylng valuo of the lnrraslr\ldJJral assets by $3.919 mlllon. The revaluation wes campleted 
using a dlscount..:l coshflow melhodology. A peer revltw was undtrtakon by Jdf Whitlock from Markham and Partners. 

Assets are pledged es securtty tor liabllles at a group level. 
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11, Property, plant and equipment 

Group 2020 

In~assets: 
Dlstrlbutloo netwont 
Wortc In Progress 
Gas measurement systen 

Oper.,tlonal assets: 
Land 
Buildings 
Buildings Work in progress 
leasehold Improvements 
Vehldes 
Office equipment 
Furniture and flttlngs 
Plant and equipment 
Computer hardware & sonware 
Alroart 
SlmufatOIS 

Total 

Accumulated 
depredation 

and 
Colt/ Impairment 

valuation cha,ves 
1 July 2019 1luly2019 

$000 $000 

31,518 (944) 
15 

4.346 (278) 

39 
2,454 (30) 

164 (146) 
359 (253) 
38 (19) 

275 (48) 
458 (287) 
109 (103) 

1,793 (223) 
80 (31) 

41,648 (2,362) 

C.nylng 
amount 

lluly 2019 
$000 

30,574 
15 

4,068 

39 
2,424 

18 
106 
19 

227 
171 

5 
1,569 

49 

39,214 
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Cum,nt 
rear 

additions 
$000 

518 
2 

142 

7,219 

2 
150 
14 
81 
53 
28 

1,328 
759 

10,291 

Current 
year lnnsfen 

•dbpogb 
$000 

(30) 

(30) 

Accu111ulated 
Cu=nt Depredation 

year Cum,nt ellmlnaled on 
lmp11innent 

dlarges 
$000 

year 
clepremtlon 

$000 

(875) 

(259) 

(2) 
(33) 
(9) 

(29) 
(51) 

(4) 
(259) 
(52) 

(1,575) 
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.-aluatlon, 

$000 

30 

30 

Revaluation 
mo..-t 

$000 
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Accumulated 
depredation 

and 
Cost/ i111palrment carr,1ng 

.-aluatlon cha,ves amount 
30June2020 30 .June 2020 30 June 2020 

$000 $000 $000 

32,036 (1,819) 30,216 
17 17 

4,488 (537) 3,951 

39 39 
9,673 (30) 9,643 

166 (148) 19 
509 (285) 224 

52 (28) 25 
356 (78) 279 
511 (338) 173 
137 (107) 28 

3,120 (483) 2,638 
839 (83) 756 

51,944 <3,9Hl 41,009 



~ 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

11. Property, plant and equl~t amt ... 

Acalmulatied 
depredation 

and 
Cost/ Impairment 

Group 2019 val■atlon cha,ves 
1 July 2011 1.Juty 2011 

$000 $000 

IJ7~assets: 
Olstr1butlon networ1c 30.794 
WOl1c In Progress 19 
Gas measurement system 4,177 

Oper.l/j(Ylal assets: 
Land 39 
Bolldlngs 2,176 (30) 
Buildings WOl1c In progress 
Leasehold improvements 163 (143) 

Vehldes 29◄ (222) 

Office equipment 29 (12) 

Furniture and fittings 248 (22) 

Plant and equipment 327 (250) 

Computer hardware & software 106 (98) 

Aircraft 503 (87) 

Slmulatx>rs 80 (23) 

Total 31,955 11171 

Cllnyfng 
amount 

1July2011 
$000 

30.794 
19 

4.177 

39 
2.U6 

19 
72 
17 

226 
77 

8 
416 
57 

31,067 
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current cu..-t 
year year tranrfen 

additions a clsposals 
$000 $000 

723136.99 0 
457539 -462084 

169 

277854.42 

1755.65 () 
65 

9712 0 
27◄21 .6◄ -257◄.77 

130851.1 0 
2381.87 -1638124 

1290000 0 
0 0 

3,155 14iII 

Aa:umolated 
Current Depnidatlon 

year Current ellmlnall!d on 
lmpall'fflflllt year dlsponls and Revaluation 

cha,ves depreciation revaluations movement 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

-943520.21 
0 

(278) 

0 
0 

-2560.39 
-31082.84 

-6901.7 
·28003.13 3 
-36505.25 

-6548.9 16 
-135773.55 

-7999.99 

11,4761 19 

6/12/2023 7:27 am 

Wbonglnllf lllstrlCI Coundl Holdlngs Umlod 
Annuot Report r.r the.,.., ended 3J June 2020 

Acannulated 
depredation 

Hd 
Cost/ Impairment Carr,ln9 

ravaluatlofl ch■rves ■mount 

30June2019 30 June 2019 30 J■ne 2019 
$000 $ODO $000 

31 518 (9«) 30.573 
15 15 

◄,346 (278) ◄.088 

39 39 
2.454 (30) 2.◄24 

16◄ (146) 19 
359 (253) 106 
38 (19) 20 

275 (48) 227 
458 (287) 171 
109 (103) 4 

1.793 (223) 1,568 
80 (31) 49 

411MI 1~62) 39,284 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

U. Jnblngtble assets Group 
software• 

MoYements for each das$ of Intangible asset are as fdlows: 

Balance at 1 July 2019 
COst 
Accum\Jla!Ed amortlsaUon and Impairment 
Opening carrying amount 

Year ended 30 June 2020 
Additions 
DtspQsals {Transfers (cost) 
AccumlJlated Depredatlon eirnlnated on Db!)osal 
Amortisation and impalnnent dlarge 
C1osilg canying amount 

Balance at 30 June 2020 
Cost 
Acx:umulated amortisation and Impairment 
Closing carrying amount 

Balance at 1 July 2018 
c.ost 
Aaumulall!d amortisation and Impairment 
Opening a,rrylng amount 

Year ended 30 June 2019 
Addlions 
Disposals (cost) 
AcaJmulall!d ~n eliminated on Disposal 
Amortisation &. Impairment cha,oe 
Closing carrying amount 

Balance at 30 June 2019 
Cost 
Accumulated amortisatlon and impalm!ent 
Closing canylng amount 

There are no resb1ctlons over the title or the Groups lrQnglble assets, nor are any Intangible assets pltdged as security for 
liabilities. 

Goodwll 
WDCHL Goodwill relates to the purchase ct the assets of the PO<t. Group Goodwin artses on consolldatlon of GasNet 
llmllled In the boolts of WDOiL 
NZICPA Is only In the oomparattve year as It Is inpalml In the 2020 year 

13. Creditors and other p;oy,,bles 

Trade payables and other acaued expenses 
Amounts due ID related parties (note 21) 
GST 
Accrued Interest expenses 

Creditors and other payables are non•lntl!rest bearing and are nonnally settled on 30-<lay terms, therefore the carrying 
value or aedltors and other payables approximates their fair value. 
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lkllnals 
$000 

463 
(410) 

23 

(22) 

1 

443 
(424) 

19 

19 

[16) 
23 

163 
('140) 

23 

Whanpanul OiS'trkt C01Jncl Hoklngs LJmkad 
Annual Report fOf the year fflded 30 June 2020 

Group 
goodwill 

$000 

11,446 
(1,697) 

9,719 

(396) 
9,353 

11,446! 
(2,093) 
9.353; 

11,446 
(1,697) 

9,749' 

9,7491 

11,446 
(1,697) 
9,749: 

Group 
2020 
$000 

1,113 
195 
108 
109 

1,555 

Group 
Total 
$000 

11,910 
(2.132'.}' 
9,m 

(41') 
9,3S4l 

11,910 
(2.556} 
9.354 

11,890 
(2.121) 

9,768 

19 

(16) 
9,nz 

11,910 
(2,137) 

2019 
$000 

700 
11 

237 
153 

1,102 

6/12/2023 7:27 am 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

H. Employee -,tltfemenu 

current portion 
Accrued pay 
Annual leave 
Sick leave 
~tand mg servla! 
TotJII ClltrMt portJot1 

15. Borrowings 

Cun-ent portion 
Short ll!fm borrowklg 
Rnance leases 
Total w,renf J)OftJon 

Non-aifffnt portion 
Secured loans - Port 
Secured loans - Ottier 
Rnance leases 
Total non<IHmlt po,tJon 

Total bomlwfngs 

SecuNd loans 

Whloganul Dimitt C:O.ndl Holdings lJmfteO 
Annual R<j)Ort rot !ti< yur endod JO June 2020 

Group 
2020 
fOOO 

109 
197 

306 

306 

Group 
2020 
$000 

8,135 

8,135 

13,814 

13,814 

21,Mt 

2019 
$000 

63 
113 

176 

176 

2011 
$000 

12,371 

12,371 

U,371 

WOCHl.'s secured debt of $13,813,603 (2019 $U,370,739) Is Issued at a mbc of flxed and floating l'llte5 ol lntzfest. Secured loans are wltl1 ANZ. 
Short t,erm bom>Mlg (ammt portion) Is wltl1 Whanganul District Council, 
For floating rate debt, the Interest rate is reset ~rterly based on the 90-day bank bll rate plus a margin of LOS% to L9% for 
"aedlt risk." Loans are accessed to have low aedlt r1slc. As such, the Group has assessed that the aedlt risk en these 
ftnandal Instruments has not lnaeased significantly since lnltlal recognition as permitted by NZ IFRS 9, and rea,gnlSed 
12 months exl)ectl!d aedlt I05ses for the asset. No matelial proylsion has been made. 

Security 
A first ranking debenture providing for fixed and floating charges over all assets Is In place. 

Fair values of non-c:un-ent borrowings canying amount 
2020 2011 
$000 $000 

TOia! Secured loans Group 13,814 12,371 
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Fair value 
2020 
$000 

12,400 

20111 
$000 

12,'IOO 

6/12/2023 7:27 am 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

115, Equity 

Share capital 
Balance at 1 July 
Ordinary shares• Issued a paid up 
Balance at 30 June 

Retained ..,,Jngs 
Balance at I July 
SUrptus{(deflclt) for the ysr 
Share rfl)Urdlase 
Dividends paid 
Balance at 30 lune 

Asset ....aluatlon reserve 
Balance at 1 July 
Revaluation galns/(lossesl 
Defl!fflld Ill• on revaluation 
Balanoe at 30 lune 

Distribution n-1t 
Gas measurement syst,m 
Balana, at 30 June 

Sh¥eapllal 
Authot1sed shares 31,945,700 (2019: 31,945,700) 
As at 30 JUne 2020 WDCHL has 7,845,800 shares Issued and My paid up (2019: 7,845,800). The fully paid shares are al 
ordina,y shares. The remaining auttw>rfsed shares are redeemable preference shares. NIZ Bank has flrst option on any call 
made on uncaled capital. 

17. Reconciliation of net aurs,i../(defidt) after tax to net ash flow from operating activities 

Surplus/( delldt) after tax 

Add/(1-) non-casll Items: 
Deprooatlon and amortisation expense 
(Gains)flosses frtlm d<rivative finandol lnslruments 
other non<ash Items • lndudlng Impairment &. revaluations 

Add/(less) ltiems dassifted as Investing or financing activities: 
Increase/(decreast) In deferred tax 

Adclf(less) movements in worldnv capital lllems: 
Income In advance 
ACX:ounts receivable 
Inventories 
ACX:ounts payable 
Income tax payablt 
Employee entftlements 

Net ca,h lnflow/(outnow) IN>m -ratlnv activities 
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Whangonul OIAJJct C..ncl Hold1119S Linlted 
AMUII Report !or tht year t nded 30 lllnt 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

7,846 7,816 

7,&M;· 7,816 

13,823 14,261 
147, 562 

(1,000) 
13,970, 13,823 

8,342 8,342 

8,342 8,342 

7,740 7,740 
602 602 

8,341 8,342 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

147 562 

1,993 1,490 
(100) (81) 

181 
2,221 1,971 

43 (98} 
43 (98) 

118 
II 160 

(160) 7 
282 524 

(478) (495) 
114) (14) 

(242) 183 

~on ;LDH 

6/12/2023 7:27 am 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

11. Commitments 

Oipltal commltm.nts 
The group has no capftal commltmen!S (2019 $1.35 mlllon). 

Open,ting , .. _ ••• lessor 

Not lall!r ll1an one year 
Late- than one ys, and net later than five yearS 
Grater than five years 

19. Contingencies 

Diamond Aircraft - Purchase Agreements between Whanganul Dlstr1ct CooncD Holdings Umlted (WOOiL) (as buyer) 
and Dianond Aircraft Industries Inc ("Olanondi (as seller) 

1. WOCHL has eowed lnlD purchase agreements be!Ween Diamond and Holdlngs as buyer In relatlon ID the sale and purchase 
of Olamond aircraft and equipment 

Dl<rnond DA40NG "vrii• 
Dl<rnond DA40NG "!FR" 
Diamond DM2NG Vl 
TOTAL 

2. As at 17 Augtlst 2020 USO/ NZO aoss rall! of 0.6541, the value of this contract Is NZD $18,462,059. 

~ 

~t 
PtaUSDptr 

Qwnllry unit 
15 $491,567 
'I $535,556 
3 $853,219 

3. Negatiatlons between Diamond and NnCPA have been ongoing as regards the ability of Diamond IX> fulfil the contract. the 
timing of the plane's ddlvery, and need for the ful conlraet Older. 

WllallQIAUI Oist7tcl COIHlcl Holdlr,os Llmled 
Annual R-, for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Group 
2020 
$DOD 

434. 
561 
300 

Tot111/JSD 
$7,373,511'1 
$2,142,226 
$2,559,658 

$12,075,387 

2019 
$000 

436 
749 
306 

'I, The C.ectcrs wtsh to rec.ord this contlngent liability. 
5. In July 2022 Diamond Aircraft and WDCHL ag,-1 ID cancel the purthase agreements for al aircraft. No longer carries l/lf'/ a>ntingient llabllty, 

20, R41at.cl p11rty tntn111dlons 

WOOIL Is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Whanganul DlslJlct Council and 100% owns GasNet Lillit.ed, I 00% <:I 
Whanganul Port Lmlled, and 100% of the New Zealand Wemalional C0mn'1eldal Piot Academy Limited 

Whanganul District Council 
Loans ID WDOil. 
Port Grant provided ID WDCHL 
Provincial growth lund grant prOYlded IX> woe~ 
SeMces provided by woe 
lnll!rest paid ID woe 
Management fees paid ID W0CHL 
Aaounts payable w woe 
Accounls n,oem,ble from woe 
Subvention payment ID Whanganul DiSIJiCI Council 
5el'llces provided to woe 

Consultancy fees pakl to dlrectD1'5 during the yur were 
Matthew Doyle {Including Doyle a. Assodates Lrnltled) 
Peo!rHazledine 
Annette Main 
David Rae (Including David Rae AssodalES Umlt2d) 
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Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

8,135 

451 

m 
195 

131 

23 
11 

6/12/2023 7;27 am 

219 

"149 
138 
292 
10 

600 
79 

127 

29 
14 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Key management -,nel compensatlon 
Salaries and short tl!rm employee benefits 
Other long-term b<rll!flts 

Key manaoement l)fflOIUlel for the group include Olredl:lrs, General Managers 
and members r:I t!lelr =1or management Ism. 

TIie Group has supplied energy to Oirec!D<S and key management personnel on an arms length basis for whldl relatl!d party 
disdosins have not been l!lilde. 

21. RemutMratlon 

Din!t:trJrs 
DlreclD!s rnoeiYed the flllowlng remunerauon: 
Matthew Doyle (WDCHL Group) 
Anndtl! Main (WDCHL Group Clialr) 
David Rae (WDOil. Group) 
Simon Kar1pa (WOOIL Group) 
Charles Andert0n (WDCHL Group/NZICPA) 
Pele' Hazledlne (WDCHL Group) 

22. Events aftllr the balance daote 

2020: NI (2019: The canpany, In partnership with Te Ngaklnga o Whanganul l)llrchased the former St George'• School buldllngs on 
9 August 2019,) 

23. Flnandill Instruments 

The aa:ounting policies for financial ln!ffllments have been applied to the Nne Items below: 

Fln1ncl1I assets 

fair value ttu1,11gh profit or loss • held for trading 
Derlvattve ftnandal lnstnJment assets 

l.oilns and receivables 
cash and cash equivalents 
Debtors and other receivables 
Other flnandal assets: 
· tl!lmdeposlts 
• loons to related parties 
Financial llablllnes at a mortls4!d coct 
Creditors and other payables 
Borrowings: 
- secured loans 

Fair value through a,mprehensive Income 
- ne: change In lalf value of CFOs 
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WIMll>gonul Oblrltt Cound Holdings Umlted 
Annuol R'l)Ort to, the y,.ar <Nlfd 30 June 2020 

Group 
2020 2019 
$000 $000 

736 

736 

Gn,up 
2020 
$000 

51 
52 .... 
42 
12 ... 

250 

Group 
2020 
$000 

32B 

2,112 
4,426 

1,555 

21,9'19 

703 

703 

2019 
$000 

52 
52 
12 
12 
12 
12 

242 

2019 
$000 

~2B 

811 
2,560 

1,102 

12,371 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

24, StatulD<y reporting u ... rrame 
Section 67(A) of the local GoYenvnfflt Act 2002 requires that the ampany adopt It annual n,port which lnwdes audited 
financial stat!menls and st!1l!rnent of service perfolmanoe, and deliver thls ID Its shareholder Within nve months after the 
end of the ftnandal year, The C.ompany was not able ID amply with this requtrenent fur the year ending 30 June 2020 
and the annual report was not adopted until Dea!mbs 2023. 

25. COVID•19 

Wnongonul Oistrlcl Cound -OS Um!1al 
Ann111I Report fol the VOii - 30 Jo.ne 202(1 

The rapid escalallon of COVID-19 Within New lealand and the subsequent dosu~ of the bolders has had a Significant Impact on the plans for bcll1 WDOt. and NZICPA, 
and lo a mudl lesser exlelt G.lsNet. 

NZJCPA 
On Mardi 11,2020, the Wolid Health Organisation declared the outbreak of Ccvld-19 a pandemic. Two wess latl:r, on 26 Mardi, New Zealand lnaea<ed its 
COVI0-19 alelt leYel to leYel 4 and a nationwide Jodcdown ammenc:e:t. As part of this IOd< down aft tl!r11ary Institutions were dosed, Subsequently al 
lnsttutlons reopened on the 18th of May 2020. 

All of New Zealand went Into lod«lown on the 17 August 2021 Ground b'alnlng was delivered onllne du~ng this penod but flight training did not resume 
untl New Zealand moved to Alert level 2 on 7 Sept,mber 2021. 

NZJCPA qualified fo, both the original "311• subsldy provided by the~ In response ID Covld-19 and the further wage subsidy, NZJCPA reaived 
wage subsidies of $127,446 during 2022 (2021: $208,058). 

At this tme the ful ftnandal mpad or the COVll>-19 pandemic ls net able to be determined. Although NZICPA has reopened and IS operating normaly. 
HoweYer, economJc uncertainties have arisen whld\ are llkely to~ aftect the operaUons and se,vlces of the schooL We de5alJe below the POSsible 
effe:ts on the school that we have Jdenl!fled resulllng fram the COVID-19 pandemic: 

A reduction In revenue from student fees a cha,ves from lnC2rnatlonal students -.nd/o, Board of Dlrec1X>rs operalmd bo;lrdlng fadlltleS, Including the 
potentlal loss of ClJl'TMI and prospecl!Ye students due to the dlsn,pllon and/o, pressures creatl!d by COVID-19 and the border bejng dosed. The bolder 
reopened m lntl!rnational students on the 12 April 2022, with 43 lntematlonal studeits anMng In Aprl 2022. 

Because of the matms noted above, the school has experlenced a significant reducllon In expectJ!Jd revenue and was not able to reduce Its costs as qulddy. 
As a resul the school was depletfng cash reservos and required the 5UJJ!l(llt of Its shalVIOlder. Exten<lve budgeting and cash flow w0<1c has been done to 
en~ the ftlght school remains vtable. NZICPA has the continued s~port of the shareholder which has provided the school with a the flnandal support 
documented below and a 1f.tter of support ID validate this. 

In n!SllOnse to the reduction In revenue and casn belno deole!al Whanoaool DISIJ1d Cooncl Holdlnas linlted establshed a loan aoreement datl!ld the 8 
1, $200,000 aed~ taciity from WOOfl, plUS 
2. $1SO,ooo Whanga,ul Dlstnct Council (WDC) rundinQ support with a further $150,000 11 agreed by woe. 

Unde- the t!mls of the loan, no demand for payment wll be made p~ to 30 June 2022 without the 19reement of botll WDCHL and NZICPA, and repayment ls not required 
If It would place NZICPA at ~ous financial risl< °' be likely to result In It ln<ll'Ttng a matmal loss o, entering ll1Slllvency. 

The company rea,ived a $300,000 advance/ban Iran WDCHL In Sejmnber 2021 and drew down the $200,000 aedlt facility In Dec 2021 and Feb 2022. 
Balance at year end $500,000. 

On the 10 November 2022 a rurther Joan agreement was signed unde, which NZICPA l8Celved an advance for Bridging and Dlsoellonary Fadllty from WD01l of $350,000 during 
the 2023 year, which was received In two payments. One of $200,000 on 28 Seplenber 2022 and another of $150,000 on 1 December 2022. The new loan agreement lncklded 
Interest oo the aavances paid monthly at a rate or 5.41% per annum. Repayment or the advances due at the end or eadl calendar quarter from March 2023 repaying 5Udl amoun 
of the Prinoapal Sums as NZICPA can reasonably afford given tlle tl"'1 a,neit and projecll!d cashllow requirements and undertakes In Qood falh to repay the Prlnctpal sums as 
quldtly as can reasonably be achieved Qlven the ope,atlonal and sdvency requlr-ts of the Company. No demand 10< payments has been made pr1or ID 30 Sf¢1!mber 2023. 

GHNet 
On Mardi 11, 2020, the World Health Organisation dedMd the outt>real< of COVll>-19 (a novel Coronmus) a pandemic. Two weelcs latl!r, on 26 March, 
Hew 1.ealand Increased Its' COVID-19 alert level m Je'ie14 and a natlonWlde loadown corrrnenced. AS part of this IOd<down the company was dosed to the !lffleral pubic 
but contin~ ID ope,ate with minimal Impact m re,,e,ue. Subsequently when level 1 was activated on 8th June 2020 GasNet once again becarne fuly operatlonal, 
At the date of Issuing the ~ndat stall!lnen!S, the canpany has been able m absorb the majority of the rnpact fro,n the nationwide lockdown. 
At this lkne the ful nnanclal Impact of the COVll>-19 pandemic Is not able to be determined, but It IS not e<pecll,d to be significant to the company. 
The company received deblcr payments during the lockdown period therefore was able ID maintain essential semces as the company Is legaly l'l!qUlred ID do so. 
Impalmient assessments have! been oomple!rd for each or the company's cash generating units based on post loctdown flnandal forecasts. 
No mpaiment to the ampany's assets were Identified from the assessments. 

26, Going conown 
The ftnandal statements have been prepared oo the going c.oncem balls as per Paragraph 25 of NZ !AS L 
NZ.JCPA has the conllnued support or Whanganul Dlstrk1 Council with a~ of support to validate this. Refer to Covld-19 note above. 
Based on onpolng suwon from Whanganul Dlslrtcl Coundl we h11ve assessed WOCHI. group as going concern. 
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Statement of service perform a nee 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited 

Objectives 

Wlllnganul OUlr1ct COUndl Holdings Limited 
Annual Report for ll>t yur • ndod JO Jun• 2020 

1.1 The Board intends to operate as a successful business In relation to its Investments to the monitoring roles 
assigned to it under contract by WDC. 

The directors have closely monitored the performance of both its own investments and those assigned to it by WDC. 
The Board has worked with WDC staff to monitor current investment and develop new Investment opportunities, with 
regular feedback being provided to its shareholder. 

1.2 The company aims to improve the long term value and financial return that WDC receives from its commercial 
entities by: 

1.2.1 Optimising financial and physical resources through close scrutiny of potential areas of inefficiency, waste or 
under-utilization of capil:iJI. 

The Directors all have extensive and varied commercial experience which when combined provides a wide set of skills 
that can provide solutions to issues of inefficiency or under-utilisation of capital. 

1.2.2 Providing prodent management of investments and timely, constructive professional advice regarding its 
position as shareholder in WGL, NZ International Commercial Pilot Academy Ltd, and any other subsidiary 
companies or undertakings. 

In 2018, as a result of the Council review and appointment of new Directors, It was decided to replicate the Directors 
of Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited within both Boards of its subsidiaries to provide for a more streamlined 
and co-ordinated governance model. In addition, WDCHL's directors investigated new commercial projects such as 
property development opportunities, and the expansion of flight school operations. 

1.2.3 Meeting the expectations of WDC for quality, cost effective strategic planning advice on investments and 
trading undertakings. 

The Board meets she-weekly to discuss its portfolio performance and the Chair has reported to Council every meeting 
to update the Council on matters. A number of additional meetings were held with the Mayor and Chief Executive of 
Council to inform and discuss the impact of Covid-19 on WDCHL and its subsidiaries. 

1.2.4 Reviewing and advising on the strategies and plans of any subsidiary company, business unit or asset when 
requested by woe: 

Board meetings are held on a six-weekly basis and include the Chief Executive of the Council which enables open 
communication regarding matters concerning the Council. Board papers indude reports on each area under WDCHL's 
governance portfolio. 

1.2.5 Being a good corporate citizen and exercising the appropnate level of social responsibility toward the 
community and the environment, consistent with the conduct of a susl:iJinable and profitable business. 

WDCHL's Directors are experienced directors who have had significant training and experience in the operations of a 
Board and the concept of governance. The directors are aware of the responsibilities of local government as defined 
by the Local Government Act 2002 and carry out their decision making with the benefits to the ratepayers of the 
Whanganui District in the forefront in addition to ensuring the sustainability and profitability of the business. 
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Perfonnance targets 

~ 

Objective Performance metric 

Advanced Aviation Hub 
1. Complete the business case for the 

NZICPA 

advanced aviation hub (AAH). 

If directors recommend proceeding 

with the AAH, secure funding from 

the Provincial Growth Fund. 

3. Make NZICPA profitable 

4. Ensure NZICPA has appropriate, flt­

for-purpose accommodation. 

S. Ensure NZICPA has the resources 

and business systems required to be 
a sustainable, stand-alone business. 

• Business case completed to a level that directors are 

comfortable to make a decision. 

• Funding secured. 

• Positive net profit for the year. 

• All students housed in suitable accommodation. 
• Nazareth property repurposed for NZICPA. 
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Wllongonul Dlstrtct O>U!W".11 Holdkl!P Limited 
Annual R<port '°' Ille yoo, ended 30 June 2020 

• Business case completed but project on hold due to 

impact of Covid-19 

• Decision deferred 

• NZICPA did not achieve a positive net profit for the 

year. 

• Nationwide shutdowns for Covid-19 resulted in the 

• 
• 

school experiencing a significant reduction in revenue 
and was not able to reduce its costs as quickly. 

~ 
All requirements were met during the year. 
Hato Hohepa (formerly Nazareth) was fit out as 

accommodation for up to SO international students. 
• The Crew Rest Centre (formerly Collegiate Motor Inn) 

was acquired. 

• NZICPA operated independently from its parent 
WDCHL. 



~ 

GasNet 

6. Operate GasNet efficiently and in 
compliance with regulations. 

Financial 
7. Review the group's capital structure 

to ensure it is prudent and suitable 
for the strategic path of the 
subsidiaries. 

8. Generate an adequate financial 
return for the group as a whole. 

Other 

• EBITEA greater than $3.5 m 
• No material breaches of regulations. 
• Customer performance metrics (SAIDI, CAIDI etc) 

achieved. 

• Review completed and changes (if any) agreed with 
Council. 
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• NZICPA had the staff and business systems required 
to run independently from its parent. 

• While NZICPA did not make a profit during the year, 
they signed a contract with Indigo Airlines to train 
cadet pilots. This contract is expected to increase the 
sustainability of the business. 

• EBITDA (before subvention payment) was $2.81m 
• There were no material breaches of regulations 
• Customer performance metrics were not met 

following an event in February 2020 when a 
pressurised water main ruptured damaging a low 
pressure gas main and flooding approximately 9 
kilometres of the low pressure gas network with 

water. 

• The review is expected to be undertaken in the 
2020/21 financial year in conjunction with the 
Whanganui District Council's WDCHL governance 
review and its implementation - --

• No dividend was paid due to the impact of Covid-19 
on NZICPA and the need to ensure that sufficient cash 
is retained to meet working capital needs. 



~ 

9. Director induction: Smooth on­
boarding of new director(s) . 

10. Board performance: informal review 
of board performance. 

11. Provide commercial and strategic 
advice to woe on an 'as required 
basis'. 

• Complete board information reviewed and compiled. 

• Review completed and any identified issues are acted 
upon. 
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• the review was not undertaken in view of the WDC 
Governance review 

• Commercial and strategic advice was provided as 
required. 
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2 To meet the dividend expectations of its shareholder while still maintaining sufficient cashflow to meet 
its own working capital needs 

Dividend paid 

Budget 

2019/20 

$1,000,000 

Actual 

2019/20 

$0 

Actual 

2018/19 

$1,000,000 

No dividend was paid due to the anticipated impact of Covid-19 on the subsidiary companies in the coming 
year and the need to ensure that sufficient cash is retained to meet working capital needs. 

3 To facilitate its subsidiary Companies and other investments or undertakings assigned to it to achieve 
investment objectives per dause 2 and the petformance targets identified in their Statements of Intent 
or as outlined in WDC~ 2018-28 long Term Plan. 

The directors have dosely monitored the Whanganui District Council's investment in GasNet Limited and 
New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy Limited (NZICPA), with all Directors of WDCHL, 
including the Chair, sitting on the GasNet and NZICPA Boards. The Board has facilitated the continuance 
of the Council's investment with variances to perfonnance targets being monitored. 
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Statement of Service Performance 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

GASNET 

Statement of Intent 

Whanganu4 OIStrict Councl Hokllngs Limited 
Annuol RtpOrt l'o! tl>t y<at ended 30 June 2020 

GasNet Limited (the Company) is a oompany formed in accordance with and registered under the Companies Act 1993. The Company 
is incorporated in New Zealand and is domiciled in Wanganui, New Zealand. The Company's parent entity is Wanganui Gas Limited. 

The Statement of Intent sets out the overall intentions and objectives of GasNet Limited for the year begiming 1 July 2019. 

Objectives 

The Directors intend that the Company operate as a successful business and be at least as profitable and efficient as other gas 
distribution network companies. 

The Company aims to provide a reasonable rate of return to its Shareholder after retaining adequate earnings for future business 
reqUirements. 

Activities 

The Company's core business is that of network infrastructure utility company with interests in natural gas distribution networks. 

Perfonnance Targets 

The performance of the Company will be judged against the following measures: 

KPis 

Health and Safetv 
Incidents Reported (No) 

Lost Time Incidents 

Lost Time Rate 

El nandal Performance 

EBITDA (before Subvention payment) 

Capex Depreciation Ratio 

Rate of Return (minimum) 

Accumulated profits and capital reserves made up of: 
Dividend (equity transfer to WDCHL) 

Subvention payment to WDCHL Group members 

Network Throughout 
Total Throughput 

UFG (Unaccounted For Gas) 

Operational Financial Performance 
Direct & Indirect Costs per consumer 

Direct & Indirect Costs per GJ conveyed 

Network Reliability 
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Target 

2019/20 

5 

0 

0 

$3.54m 

6.43% 

$1.BOm 

1.4 PJ 

1.0% 

$209 

$1.54 

Actual Actual 

2019/20 2018/19 

7 

0 

0 

$2.8lm 

0.59 

7.71% 

$1.46m 

$0.34m 

1.31 PJ 

1.32% 

$273 

$2.11 

4 

2 

1 

$3.46m 

0.78 

9.5% 

$6.34m 

l.28PJ 

0.68% 

$208 

$1.64 
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Planned Interruptions (Class B} 

Consumer Hours Lost 

SAIDI 

SAIFI 

CAIDI 

Unplanned Interruptions (Oass C) 

Consumer Hours Lost 

SAIDI 

SAIFI 

CAIDI 

Unplanned Third Party Interruptions (Class I} 

Consumer Hours Lost 

SAIDI 

SAIFI 

CAIDI 

Total Interruptions 

Consumer Hours Lost 

SAIDI 

SAIFI 

CAIDI 

Third Party Interference Damage (No) 

Public Reported Gas Escapes (No) 

370 

1,690 

Target 

2019/20 

9.2 

184 

80 

380 

5.4 

70 

40 

190 

1.9 

100 

490 

2,260 

16.5 

137 

25 

so 

Whin11anul District Counct Hotdlr,gs Umlted 
Annual Report for tM ye.a, ended 30 June 2020 

395.92 162.90 

1803.86 745,14 

Actual Actual 

2019/20 2018/19 

8.13 6.86 

222.01 108.60 

132.35 91.97 

603.01 420.68 

5.77 5.11 

104.49 82.36 

46,879.6 135.93 

213,590.71 621.79 

22.78 2.97 

9,375.92 209.13 

47,407.87 390.80 

215,997.S7 1787.60 

36.68 14.94 

5,889.18 119.63 

25 25 

39 44 

SAIDI - represents the average number of minutes that a consumer was without gas during the reporting period 
SAIA - represents the average number of interruptions that a consumer experiences during the reporting period 

CAIDI - represents the average duration in minutes that a consumer experienced during the reporting period 

Assessment 

The Company is of the opinion that, as a reasonable and prudent operator, it has achieved the above performance targets within 
acceptable margins and continues to exercise tight cost controls on the financial KPI's. 

The company advanced $1,463,648 to the parent Whanganui District Council Holdings Ltd as a dividend. GasNet Limited made a 
subvention payment to New Zealand International Pilot Academy of $336,351. Combined target of Dividend and subvention payments 
is $1.6M. 

With its focus on ensuring the health and safety of its employees and the safe transportation and delivery of gas to consumers, the 
low number of incidents reflects the company's commitment to health and safety. There were five minor injuries caused by musde 
strains and finger scrapes and cuts. Two more serious injuries occurred, one when a Technician slipped from a parked van as he was 
alighting and fell onto a shovel and another where a staff member reported an electric shock as he operated a light switch, A review 
audit of the Public Safety Management System (PSMS) was partially completed remotely by Telarc in April 2020 during COVID19 Alert 
level 4. 

Throughput of gas through the network was higher than the previous year despite being slightly lower than target, and connection 
numbers reduced from 118 in 2018-19 to 81 new consumer connections made during the year. 

Planned network interruptions (Oass B) were slightly higher in number than the previous 3 years but lower than years prior. This was 
due to fewer number of interruptions for main renewals which tend to be longer In duration and more Interruptions for locating 
unmapped gas service pipes, which require a relatively short duration of interruption. 
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There were a similar number of similar duration unplanned interruptions (Class C) this year as in previous years except for the 2017-
2018 year, when one event involving water Inundation of mains resulted In multiple consumers losing supply for around 20 hours 
each. 

The number of unplanned supply Interruptions caused by third party damage (Oass I) were considerably higher than any other in the 
previous 10 years with the average duration of interruption in the order of 6 days each. The large number of aass I interruptions 
were due to one event In February 2020 when a pressurized water main ruptured damaging a low pressure gas main and flooding 
approximately 9 kilometres of the low pressure gas network with water. The water effectively blocking the gas main and services 
interrupted supplies to approximately 283 consumer supplies for up to 2 weeks. 

The Board has met on eight occasions during the financial year and have monitored the company's progress, using a substantial 
range of financial and non-financial measures. 
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New Zealand International Commercial Pilot Academy Limited (NZICPA) 

Description of Entity's Outcomes 

The New Zealand lnternatlor\at Commercial Pilot Academy (NZICPA) trains professional Rlght.<feck c:rew for the glollal a,,atlon 
industry. The business is a wholly owMd subsidiary of Whanganul District Council Holdin~ Limited {WDCH L). 

The bu~I~ was establishlld uncle, a regional «ooomk development mandate and accordingly S4l41ks to enable spe,)d from 
New Zealand and international studenli. within the dlsttict. 

NZlCJ>A acts in ahgnf'l'ltnt with co,porate sooal re.sponSibllityb~ practice, .and thrS Is pattlcularty focused on a CQITlmunity 
a.pproach to youth developmenL This is facilitated through our pastoral care operations at the Ha!o Ho11epa and Colltgiatt 
Es~tesitM. 

Description and Quantification of the Entity's Outputs 

The Company pro,ldes p,ofessional r.,ght training programmes for N<!w Zealand and lntematlonal students New Z@aland 
students Lyplcally complete training a Private Pilot licence, or a levet 5 Of 6 New Zealand Diploma In Avtalton quallflcatlon­
Fl,ght training and education is delivered uooer New Zealand rules am! regulallons for both education and aviation, I ndudlng 
thosust.abllshed by; Tertiary Education Commission (TEct and New Zealand QualificatlonsAuthority (NZQA) and Civillwialion 
Authority (CAA). 

NZICPA dellvers th11 following prog,amm1.>s and or quatlf1cations: 

Private Pilot Licence (Aeropfanel 
Commercial P1lol licence (Arroplanl!). 
New ZHland Uult;-engine Instrument Ralini:­
Aerobatics Ratm&. 
Hew Zealand Diploma In AltlatJon (Aeroplane) General Aviation Strand llevt!I S) 
Hew Zealand Diploma in Altlation (Ae1oplane) Flight lnst,udion Strand (level 6) 
New Zealand Diploma In Aviat,on (Aeroplane) Airline Preparatlorl Strand (level 6) 

Generally. Ira New Zealand the minimum pilot hour5 requlrl!ment lor 1mplO'{ment by a pas.slinger airline ex~eeds the hours 
attained during O,ghl training. Accordlngly, many young pilots arc employed a~ flight Instructors followins their t,aining courses 
to gain upuience. NZICPA employs a high nunbPr ol graduates whom have <.ompleted the iniual 11,ght in1tru~tor qualif,catiou 

Performance Results 

The Companr i1 ,e,ularly assessed through detailed independent audiu of our aviation training prov.sion, our c;ducatiOn 
qualtty, and as a Council Controlled Organisation 

NZICPA has maintained the highest education organisation ,anklng against the NZQA External Evaluation and Re,,;iew 
lEER) usessml'tltoiteria. being Highly Confident in Educational Perlorm,1nce (1), ar,cl Hii;hly Conndenl tn Capability m 
Sell AsseumenL 
Tt.e Company has complet@d the CAA aud,u fo, both cert,r,cat•~. including th• Part l_.l approv•d training organlsalJon 
\ATO), aoo Part 135 air operator The detaAed and compreh~nsl* audit was completed with no flndings 
The Compan) I~ also a signatory to the Code of Pracltce for the Pastoral Care of lnternat10nal Students 
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NZtCPA delNered an lmpl'IM!CI perlonnMce dun,.1bdY 19/20. lncrusmi: flyinc hou" from 7,015 to9,.2(i!i ancl re11enue from 
$2,278,081 to Sl,271,879, 

The traMIIJOO to Whanpnui has c011tlnled to result In lncreued com.As the enlrtycontonues to grow to a stagu,here It can 
be ptffl'liMYtmue for l!,ght training .vidf.nanclilly sett su1f•clent 

NZICPA malntalnf!d superior l"l!SUIIS aga,'ISt CM .ind NZQA meil<.lres of performance. 

Description and Quantification ofth• Entity's outputs 
(BIT.:ll.lor llw~r belareom Dfl calls 

orwo11c .. 1s 

lBllllA 

R..iurr 'II 

other Performance ObJectivws 
Don11KJns 

Fifing haun. av1i1"blt b cc•m111nity a,oup, 

lGlO 

192.7'1 

192.7'1 

105 

= 
900 

D 

l0l05a ltU 

100,0CO (JOl.2'()} 

19,&50 

lC0,000 (12!..JI0l 

1S (191 

~GSQI :1'11 

JOO !OC 

50 55 

The tlflllt r.itio of coosolldated shareholMrs' funds f 1ncludlng parerM company advancu) ID total assets for 1he pt'rlod coYf rtd 
b)•the Statement of Intent shaU i,. les! than SO'IIL fhl1 tilrJet ratio does oottake onto account unusuaior one-cf# type 
traltSKl.ions that Irr.pact this ratro. 
the Ratio for the year was -J~ (201S.14.5'ttl). 

Consol,dat~ .!ohareholdH r .. ncb 

fotalASsets 

Ratio Sh.teholdN F ,mds Cl111lded bf 
Total Assets 

2020 

(Sll,366' 

s-4..ac,ou 

(l..a~I 

$364.960 

Sl.!>l!,913 

14.5'1, 

NllCPA n:alnt;ilned c"'rency with ilN tttemal ued,tor.. through<,111 the ye..r. lh• onfy crf'd,101 •11ct, an agtd balance ;ityf'ar e,,d 
was Wha11&anui l>imict Counol Ho'di<igs umated th~ c-. 

2020 2:,20so, 20111 

S~Jde~r N,unlle, s &s f,() 6l 

F l)'ing HCkUS ~.2f>S T;IOO 7,0~ 

Margan per Flying HOUI S64 $40 $62 

Holdings aircraft uhilLllron 611\: 6~llo &4~ 
perceotag~ 
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~DIT NEW ZEALAND 
Mana Arotake Aotearoa 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the readers of Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited's group financial 
statements and performance information for the year ended 30 June 2020 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Whanganui District Council Holdings Limited (the Group). The 

Auditor-General has appointed me, Debbie Perera, using the staff and resources of Audit 

New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information of 

the Group, on his behalf. 

Opinion 

We have audited: 

• the financial statements of the Group on pages 9 to 33, that comprise the statement of 

financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive income, statement 

of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the 

statement of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements that include 

other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information, as reported in the statement of service performance, of the 

Group on pages 34 to 38. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of the Group on pages 9 to 33: 

o present fairly, in all material respects: 

its financial position as at 30 June 2020; and 

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance 

with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

Reduced Disclosure Regime; and 

• the performance information of the Group on pages 34 to 38 presents fairly, in all material 

respects, the Group's actual performance compared against the performance targets and 

other measures by which performance was judged in relation to the Group's objectives for 

the year ended 30 June 2020. 



Our audit was completed on 13 December 2023. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we draw your attention to other matters. In 

addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and our responsibilities relating to 

the financial statements and the performance information, we comment on other information, and 

we explain our independence. 

Emphasis of matters 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the following disclosures. 

Covid-19 and financial viability 

Note 25 in the financial statements, and pages 34 to 38 outline the significant impact Covid-19 has 

had on the Group's performance and future financial viability. Note 26 outlines that the financial 

statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and provides reasons why the Board of 

Directors consider this appropriate, including the reliance on financial support from their 

shareholder. 

Breach of statutory reporting deadline 

Note 24 on page 3 outlines that the Board of Directors did not meet the requirement of section 67A 

of the Local Government Act 2002, which requires the Group's annual report to be completed before 

the close of 30 November 2020. 

Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General's Auditing Standards, which 

incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 

(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor 

section of our report. 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General's Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements and the 

performance information 

The Board of Directors is responsible on behalf of the Group for preparing financial statements that 

are fairly presented and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for preparing the performance information for the Group. 



The Board of Directors is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable 

it to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board of Directors is 

responsible on behalf of the Group for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Board of Directors is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the Board of Directors intends to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors' responsibilities arise from the Local Government Act 2002. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the 
performance information 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the 

performance information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in 

accordance with the Auditor-General's Auditing Standards wil l always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 

and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the 

basis of these financial statements and the performance information. 

For the budget information reported in the performance information, our procedures were limited to 

checking that the information agreed to the Group's statement of intent. 

We did not eva luate the security and contro ls over the electronic publication of the financial 

statements and the performance information. 

As part of an audit in accordance with t he Auditor-General's Auditing Standards, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also: 

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and 

the performance information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 



• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the 

Group's framework for reporting its performance. 

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by 

the Board of Directors and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures 

in the financial statements and the performance information or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the aud it evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• We eva luate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and 

the performance information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 

statements and the performance information represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements and the 

performance information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express 

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated performance 

information. We are responsible solely for the direction, supervision and performance of 

the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify in our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001. 

Other information 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included on pages 1 to 8 and 39 to 43, but does not include the financial statements and 

the performance information, and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the other 

information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our 

responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the performance information 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 

our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 



Independence 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the independence requirements of the 

Auditor-General's Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of 

Professional and Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 

(including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) (PES 1), issued by New Zealand 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Group. 

Debbie Perera 

Audit New Zealand 

On behalf of the Auditor-General 

Palmerston North, New Zealand 


